VLg: B-18-82 j27F-56
NRWP @ -20- B2

FHR-6-300 (11-78)

United States Department of the Interior
Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
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1. Name

historic 4011y Lawn_(Preferred)

and/or common  Richmond Council of Garden Clubs House

2. Location

street & number 4015 Hermitage Road El_Anot for publication
3rd
city, town Richmond N/A vicinity of congressional district (Thomas J. Bliley, Jr.)
state Virginia code 51 county (In City) code 760
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
x- district _X_ public X occupied ___ agriculture —__ museum
—_ hullding{s) ___ private —— unoccupled — commercial —— park
__ structure ___both ___ work in progress ___educational _X  private residence
— Site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
— Object —in process _X__ yes: restricted — government __..scientific
__ being considered —— yes: unrestricted — industrial - transportation
N/A —no —— military —X_other: Clubhouse

4. Owner of Property

name Richmond Council of Garden Clubs, Inc. c/o President

street & number 4015 Hermitage Road

city, town Richmond N/ Aranmersr state Virginia 23227
5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Richmond City Hall

street & number 900 E. Broad Street

city, town Richmond state Virginia

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Virginia Historic Landmarks
title Commission Survey has this property been determined elegible? ___yes X __no

date 1981 — federal X state ___ county __ local

depository for survey records Vvirginia Historic Landmarks Commission, 221 Govermor Street

clty, town Richmond state  Virginia 23219




7.. Description

Condition Check one Check one

— X excellent —deteriorated ____ unaitered X original site N/A
—_good —ruins _X_altered —_moved  date

— fair —— unexposed

Describe the present and original {if known) physical appearance
SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Holly Lawn 1s located at 4015 Hermitage Road, to the west of the Ginter Park
neighborhood of the city of Richmond. The 2%-story residence was erected in buff-colored,
stretcher-bond brick in 1901. Its irregular roof line and variety of geometric forms
make it a particularly rich example of Queen Anne architecture. The house is well
preserved and well maintained and possesses most of its original iInterior trim.

Following its acquisition by the Richmond Council of Garden Clubs, a low auditorium was
added to the north side of the building in 1973.

ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS

Richmond's North Side is particularly rich in trees and shrubbery, and the front
grounds of Holly Lawn are no exception. The house is set back from the street on a
spacious lot amidst oak and holly trees and evergreen shrubs that contrast with the . .
light brick walls. The facade (west) has a one-story .porch, that extends to the north
and south elevations. The porch has unfluted columns on stone plinths and brick pedestals
and a wooden balustrade with turned balusters. The porch is covered by a shed roof with
a pediment at the main entrance. Modillions embellish the porch's eaves. The main
entrance consists of a transom-light doorway that retains its original glass and wood-
paneled door. The transom is topped by a stone lintel. The rear (east) entrance is
located within a two-story entrance tower topped by a pyramidal roof. Access 1s gained
through three round-arch openings that lead to a doorway similar in treatment to that found
on the front (west) elevation. The principal windows consist of rectangular openings with
1/1 hung~sash topped by rough-hewn stone lintels. The north elevation has round, half-
round, and square openings. The hipped roof is broken by gable-, hipped-, and conical-
roofed dormers with square casement windows. The roof line. is further enhanced by a conical
roof that covers a corner tower and also by a number of chimmey stacks. The eaves have
both brackets and modillions. The exterior wall surface is embellished with terra-cotta
moldings worked in geometric panels. The main roof is covered by imbricated-patterned
slate; the porch roof is covered with sheet metal.

Holly Lawn has a corner hall plan where the main stair is located. The open-well
stair is the most elaborate Interior feature and has turned balusters, a molded handrail,
and a carved newel. The newel has applied Ionic pilasters and carved acanthus leaves.

The original finial, most likely an urn, has been removed. Located between the first and
second floors, the stair landing is distinguished by a semicircular balcony that has

turned balusters and a molded handrail. In addition to the hall, the principal rooms on

the first floor are the library, parlor, and dining room. The library was originally a
small sitting room and has a carved oak mantel. The windows and doorways have molded
architrave trim with turned corner blocks. The original louvred interior shutters, a
typical feature of houses of this period, have been retained. A plaster ceiling cormice
further embellishes the room. The parlor mantel and ceiling are similarly treated. The
dining room has a mantel and mirrored overmantel with a glazed tile surround. The second
floor consists of bedchambers, and the mantels are similar in treatment to those found

on the first floor. Imn all probability the mantels were made by the Richmond Wood Working
Company, being similar to those illustrated in the company's 1902 catalogue. Decorative
cast-metal fireplace coverings with garlands, swags, and figures are retained, throughout the
.house. A round arch distinguishes two former master bedrooms on the secoud floor. The rear
first-floor. kltchen hag been modernized so as to continue to serve its intended use. The
pantry retains its extensive storage closets and cupboards. ‘The servant's quarters now
serve as an apartment.

(See Continuation Sheet #1)



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

— prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric p. community planning ___ landscape architecture____ religion

—1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic — conservation —  law — science

—..1500-1599 ___ agriculture - etconomics —— literature _ —sculpture

—1600-1699 X __ architecture —— education ——_ military — .. soclal/

— 17001799 ____ art — engineering — music humanitarian

— 1800-189% ____ commerce — exploration/settlement ___ philosophy — theater

X 1900- — communications — industry -— politics/government __ transportation
— invention X __ other (specity)

public health
Specific dates 1901 Builder/Architect Unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)
' STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Situated among clusters of mature oak and holly trees in what formerly was a turn-
of-the-century streetcar suburb of Richmond, Holly Lawn is a superb Queen Anne-style
residence that is representative of the best suburban architecture of its period. Built
in 1901 for Andrew Bierne Blair, a prominent Richmond insurance agent, the house is more
closely associated with Dr. Ennion G. Williams, who made Holly Lawn his residence for
nearly twenty years following his appointment as the Commonwealth's first Commissioner of
Public Health in* 1308. Williams was a figure of national importance in 'the public health
movement of the progressive era. Under his direction, Virginia's health board ranked
among the first such departments in the country to apply scientific knowledge to the im-
provement of public hygiene by a system of prevention as well as cure.

\

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

With its irregularity of plan and massing, Holly Lawn is a prime example of a fully
developed Queen Anne residence, representing a striking departure from the more regular
town houses then being bullt within the city proper. More typical of Richmond housing is
the prominence given to Holly Lawn's porch, a traditionally pronounced feature of Southern
architecture, associated with Richmond's dwellings from the early 19th century. The
interior woodwork appears to be a product of the Richmond Wood Working Company, as it
parallels plates in the company's 1902 catalogue. The house stands in a turn-of-the-
century suburb of Richmond that was annexed to the city in 1914. Assoclated with the
development of Sherwood Park to the south and Ginter Park to the east, the area was
described enthusiastically by Douglas Taylor in a promotional booklet entitled Suburban
Reflections (ca. 1901): "In all Virginia...there could not be found a more beautiful
section than that embraced in the northwestern suburbs of the city of Richm?nd, OTr more
particularly in the section adjacent to Brook Turnpike and Hermitage Road."" The real estate
agent mentions the "new handsome residence of Mr. A. Bierne Blair" in his discussion
of picturesque houses in the vicinity of Sherwood Park and the Union Theological Seminary.

In 1902 the Blairs sold the spacious house to Charles B. Cooke of St. Louis. The
George Gibson family occupied the house between 1907 and 1909; not until 1913 did the
dwelling become the home of the Ennion G. Williams family, with whom it is most closely
agsociated. According to family members, Dr. Williams gave the property its name because
of the large number of holly trees scattered on its lawn.

Ennion G. Williams was born in 1874 into a prominent Richmond business family.
According to hig sister, Mrs. Maria W. Williams, writing for her grandchildren in 1953,
Dr., Williams decided to pursue medicine when quite young. He recelved his education at
the University of Virginia and spent several years in New York, Philadelphia, and Munich,
Germany, where he became particularly interested in preventive medicine. At a time when
- progressive Virginians were just beginning to recognize the need for positive governmeat
action to promote the genesral welfare, Williams returned to Richmond with a conviction

"that it was more important to keep people from getting sick than to make them well after
(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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7. Description

The addition of 1973 consists of a one~story ammex constructed of buff-colored brick.
It is connected to the north wall of the residence by a small hyphen which serves as a
hall. The addition contains the Garden Club's meeting room, The rear (east) vard has
been turned into a parking lot.

RCC

8. Significance

they got sick."2

Dr. Williams began to transform this ideal into reality upon his election to Rich-
mond's Common Council in 1905. During his term as councilman he pressed successfully for
the creation of a city health department. He was especially iInterested in obtaining a
public hospital separate from the almshouse, believing that it was Richmond's duty to
provide the indigent with a free hospital, staffed by volunteer doctors and nurses.3
Because it had become increasingly clear that crowded citles invited the rapid spread
of contagious diseases, Williams also felt it imperative that the local governing body
maintain a safe public water supply and adequate sewer facilities.

With passage of the greatly strengthened public health bill advocated by Governor
Claude Swanson in 1908, Willjams was appointed Commissioner of Health for the Commonwealth,
a post he held continuously under six succeeding governors until his death in 1931.
Williams's tenure as commissioner was as fruitful as it was long. Through his efforts,
the Catawba Sanitorium for the treatment of tubercular patients was established. Reflect-
ing his strong belief in the value of educating the public about methods to promote good
health, the state health department issued a series of free bulletins on such important
topics as the treatment of contagious diseases, protecting safe water supplies, construct-
ing privies so as to prevent the spread of germs, and proper prenatal care, as well as
instructional material for school children encouraging the development of good health
habits. Williams not only believed in state intervention for the control of communicable
diseases and for the protection of water and waste water, but he also felt it was the pro-
vince of govermment to provide care and assistance for children with physical defects.

His philosophy, which was in tune with progressive thinking of the time, stressed that
while delivery of health care to individuals must be left up to the private medical com-
munity, the state had the major responsibility for overseeing the general well-being of
its citizens. According to his obituary in the Richmond Times-Dispatch, he won his
nationwide reputation in the public health field as a pioneer in the application of
scientific methods of preventive medicine to the improvement of public hygiene.4 It is

a testament to his stature that the Surgeon General of the United States served as a pall-
bearer at his funeral.

Throughout the period of his active professional life, Dr. and Mrs, Williams con-
tinued to reside at Holly Lawn. Its convenient location, commodious rooms, and beautiful,
park-like atmosphere combined to make it an ideal place to raise a family of eight children.
Accenting his devotion to home and family, his biographer in The Encyclopedia of Virginia
Biography declares that he was "emphatically a home man; his greatest enjoyment being

(See Continuation Sheet #2)
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8. Significance

found there," a portrait that is preserved even more vividly in his family's correspondence.
His sister Maria (Mrs. Lewis C. Williams) recalls a special Christmas when Dr. Williams

and his family decided to forego gifts in order to prepare anonymously a Christmas feast
with presents and a tree for a poor family in the neighborhood. She writes, '"a happier
family never gathered around a breakfast table than the group of Ennion Williamses on that
Christmas morning."®

In 1950 Mrs. Ennion Williams sold Holly Lawn to Mr. Graham Pembroke, whose family
resided there until 1966. While the house today serves as the headquarters and library
of the Richmond Council of Garden Clubs, who purchased it in 1969 and added the present
auditorium wing in 1973, it remains in its setting of large oak and holly trees an appro-
priate symbol for the man whom Virginius Dabney has called '"one of the most dedicated public
servants in Virginia history."’

MTP/RAC
FOOTNOTES

1Douglas Taylor, Suburban Reflections, published before 1902, unpaged. Valentine
Museum Archives, Richmond, Virginia.

2Maria W, Williams, "Grandmother's Christmas Story: 1953." Copy in Virginia
Historic Landmarks Commission Archives, Richmond, VA.

3Ennion G. Williams, "A General City Hospital and the New Colored Almshouse"
Treatise, 1907.

4Richmond Times-Dispatch, June 7, 1931, p. 1.

5Lyon G. Tyler, ed. Encyclopedia of Virginia Biography, Vol. V. {New York:
Lewis Historical Publishing Company, 1915) p. 772.

6Maria W. Williams, Ibid.

'7Virginius Dabney, Virginia: The New Dominion (New York: Doubleday and Co., Inc.,
1971) p. 451, .

9, Bibliography

Flannagan, Roy K., M.D. Early Adventures in Public Health in Virginia. Petersburg, Va.:
Southside Medical Association, 1937.

Hill's City Directory. Richmond. 1901-1914.
Richmond Times-Dispatch, June
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9., Bibliography

Richmond, Va. Valentine Museum Archives. Douglas Taylor, Suburban Reflections, published
before 1902.

Richmond, Va. Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Archives. Richmond (city) file
127-55, Holly Lawn. Materials provided by Richmond Council of Garden Clubs;
Maria W. Williams, "Grandmother's Christmas Story: 1953."

Tyler, Lyon G., ed. Encyclope&ia of Virginia Biography. Vol. V. New York: Lewis
Historical Publishing Company, 1915.

Virginia Department of Health. Various Bulletins.
Williams, Daniel Lassiter. Telephone conversation, December 1981,

Williams, Ennion G. "A General City Hospital and the New Colored Almshouse." Treatise,
February 19, 1907.

. '"Legitimate Boundaries of Public Health Activities.” Paper presented at the
56th Meeting of the Medical Society of Virginia, October 14-16, 1925.

10. Boundary Description and Justification

Ave.; thence extending 307.46"' N along said side; thence 216.40"' E; thence 80' S; thence
125" E to W side of Chevy Chase St.; thence 150.24' S along said side; thence 175.18'

W; thence about 90' S along alley; thence about 180' W to point of origin. Richmond
City Assessor Map Reference NO00-2176/025 (Block N2176, parcel 25).

Boundary Justification: The nominated property for Holly Lawn consists of 2} acres.
It includes the house, the auditorium, and the front and rear yards. The property extends
from Hermitage Road to Chevy Chase Street.



9. Major Bibliographical References

Dabney, Virginius. Virginia: The New Dominion. WN¥ew York: Doubleday and Co., Inc.,
1971, p. 451.

(See Continuation Sheet #2)

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 2% acres
Quadrangle name Richmond, Va. : Quadrangle scale 1124000
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Verba_ll boundary description and wstlﬁcation

Beglnning at a point on E. side of Hermitage Rd., about 250' N of intersectlon w:Lth Nottoway
- (See Continuation Sheet #3)

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code county N/A code

state N/A code county N/A code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title  yiroinia Historic Landmarks Commission Staff

organizationVirginia Historic Landmarks Commission date January - 1982
street & number 221 Governor Street- . - ... - teiephone. . .(804).786=-3144 . ..
clty or town Richmond state Virginia 23219

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

—___ national _X_state — local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Otficer for the Nat al. Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the Nationpa) Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Herl

Znservation W Service
¥

H. Bryan Mitchell, Executive Director
J . ? ° date MAY 1 21

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

PO 938 83%
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